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UNITED STATES of America, Plaintiff-Appellee,
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Rehearing Denied Aug. 9, 1972.

(NOTE:   This case has some Negative History But is Not Overruled.) 


EUGENE A. WRIGHT, Circuit Judge:
After a trial to the court, appellant was convicted of violating 13 U.S.C. § 221(a)

 HYPERLINK "http://campus.westlaw.com/result/documenttext.aspx?blinkviewer=true&spa=northeast-2000&rs=WLW6.06&service=Find&serialnum=1972110477&n=1&fn=_top&sv=Split&findtype=Y&rlt=CLID_FQRLT22120107&db=350&vr=2.0&rp=%2fSearch%2fdefault.wl&mt=CampusLegal" \l "FN;F0011"  [FN1] by refusing to answer questions on the Department of Commerce census form of 1970. The court sentenced him to pay a $50 fine. We reverse.

FN1. "Whoever, being over eighteen years of age, refuses or willfully neglects, when requested . . . to answer, to the best of his knowledge any of the questions on any schedule submitted to him in connection with any census or survey . . applying to himself or to the family to which he belongs or is related . . . shall be fined not more than $100 or imprisoned not more than sixty days, or both." 13 U.S.C. § 221(a).



Steele raises several points, only two of which require discussion: (1) answering the census questions would have required him to incriminate himself, and (2) the authorities singled him out for prosecution because he had publicly advocated noncompliance with census requirements.

SELF-INCRIMINATION

Appellant and six other unrelated young adults resided in a private home in Honolulu. When a census enumerator called for his questionnaire, Steele refused to answer all questions on the form [FN2] and returned it to the enumerator with two pages removed. Next, a supervisor called and was similarly rebuffed. Finally, after a regional officer had tried and failed to interview Steele, the effort was abandoned. Steele testified at trial that he had refused to answer on constitutional grounds. [FN3]
FN2. Actually Steele did supply "head count" information, listing six John Does and one Mary Doe on the portion of the form returned. References in this opinion to total refusal to cooperate should be read to include refusal to provide no more than head count information.

FN3. Steel's Fourth Amendment challenge to the census is without merit. See United States v. Rickenbacker, 309 F.2d 462 (2d Cir. 1962), cert. denied, 371 U.S. 962, 83 S.Ct. 542, 9 L.Ed.2d 509. (1963).



Steele argues that he may have been in violation of the Honolulu Zoning Code because more than five unrelated people lived in his single-family dwelling. Answering the questionnaire would have disclosed this fact, and might have subjected him to criminal prosecution by municipal authorities.
The argument calls into question the impact of the use immunity provisions of the census statutes. It is provided in 13 U.S.C. § 8(c): "In no case shall information furnished under the authority of this section be used to the detriment of the persons to whom such information relates." And 13 U.S.C. § 9(a) provides: "Copies of census reports which have been so retained shall be immune from legal process, and shall not, without the consent of the individual . . . concerned, be admitted as evidence or used for any purpose in any action, suit, or other judicial or administrative proceeding."
The government argues that these provisions shield Steele from any substantial risk of self-incrimination. Steele disagrees. We need not resolve that conflict, because we have determined that Steele's second point has merit and requires reversal of his conviction.

DISCRIMINATORY PROSECUTION

Steele claims the census authorities deliberately applied an unjustifiable standard in selecting offenders for prosecution under 13 U.S.C. § 221(a). Only four people in Hawaii were chosen for prosecution. All had participated in a census resistance movement, publicizing a dissident view of the census as an unconstitutional invasion of privacy and *1151 urging the public to avoid compliance with census requirements.
Steele held a press conference, led a protest march, and distributed pamphlets entitled "Big Brother is Snooping." David Watamull was the owner of radio station KTRG, which broadcast editorials on the census. Census authorities had complained to the Federal Communications Commission about them because they "were calculated to incite people to subvert the census law." Donald Dickinson spoke against the census as an announcer on station KTRG. William Danks headed the state chapter of a group called Census Resistance '70; he distributed pamphlets and publicly criticized the census.
Leland Gray, the Regional Technician for the census in Hawaii, described the four as "hard core resisters." He ordered his staff to compile special background dossiers on them, a discretionary procedure not followed with any other offenders. Gray testified that his organization had been very concerned about the census resistance movement.
Steele attempted to prove that many others in Hawaii had provided census officials with no more information than he had. In a motion for a bill of particulars, he asked the government how many others in Hawaii had committed the same offense. The United States Attorney's office replied that the information was not available. Steele himself located six other persons who had completely refused on principle to complete the census forms. None of those had taken a public stand against the census and none were recommended for prosecution.
Mr. Gray testified that, to the best of his recollection, the four men prosecuted were the only ones who completely refused to cooperate. Steele's evidence about the six others demonstrates that Mr. Gray's memory was faulty.
[1]

 HYPERLINK "http://campus.westlaw.com/result/documenttext.aspx?blinkviewer=true&spa=northeast-2000&rs=WLW6.06&service=Find&serialnum=1972110477&n=1&fn=_top&sv=Split&findtype=Y&rlt=CLID_FQRLT22120107&db=350&vr=2.0&rp=%2fSearch%2fdefault.wl&mt=CampusLegal" \l "HN;B2" [2] Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, 6 S.Ct. 1064, 30 L.Ed. 220 (1886), established the principle that equal protection of the law is denied when state officials enforce a valid statute in a discriminatory fashion. [FN4] The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment furnishes a federal defendant with the same guarantee against discriminatory federal prosecution. Washington v. United States, 130 U.S.App.D.C. 374, 401 F.2d 915 (1968); cf. Bolling v. Sharpe, 347 U.S. 497, 74 S.Ct. 693, 98 L.Ed. 884 (1954). A defendant cannot be convicted if he proves unconstitutional discrimination in the administration of a penal statute. Two Guys from Harrison-Allentown, Inc. v. McGinley, 366 U.S. 582, 588, 81 S.Ct. 1135, 6 L.Ed.2d 551 (1961).

FN4. "Though the law itself be fair on its face and impartial in appearance, yet, if it is applied and administered by public authority with an evil eye and an unequal hand, so as practically to make unjust and illegal discriminations between persons in similar circumstances, material 

to their rights, the denial of equal justice is still within the prohibition of the constitution." Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, 373- 374, 6 S.Ct. 1064, 1073, 30 L.Ed. 220 (1886).



[3]

 HYPERLINK "http://campus.westlaw.com/result/documenttext.aspx?blinkviewer=true&spa=northeast-2000&rs=WLW6.06&service=Find&serialnum=1972110477&n=1&fn=_top&sv=Split&findtype=Y&rlt=CLID_FQRLT22120107&db=350&vr=2.0&rp=%2fSearch%2fdefault.wl&mt=CampusLegal" \l "HN;B4" [4] Mere selectivity in prosecution creates no constitutional problem. Oyler v. Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 456, 82 S.Ct. 501, 7 L.Ed.2d 446 (1962). To invoke the defense successfully one must prove that the selection was deliberately based on an unjustifiable standard, such as race, religion, or other arbitrary classification. Oyler v. Boles, supra, 368 U.S. at 456, 82 S.Ct. 501. See Snowden v. Hughes, 321 U.S. 1, 64 S.Ct. 397, 88 L. Ed. 497 (1944); Rhinehart v. Rhay, 440 F.2d 718 (9th Cir. 1971); People v. Utica Daw's Drug Co., 16 A.D.2d 12, 225 N.Y.S.2d 128 (1962). Steele is entitled to an acquittal if his evidence proved that the authorities purposefully discriminated against those who chose to exercise their First Amendment rights.
Although hampered by the government's refusal to supply data on the number of like offenses, Steele did manage to show that at least six others had committed the same offense. The Regional *1152 Technician said he had never heard of any of the six. The trial judge concluded that Steele and his colleagues were the only violators known to the census officials. That finding is not supported by the record taken as a whole.
As Mr. Gray explained them, the census operating procedures would in the normal course of events furnish information about any person who failed to complete the questionnaire. A refusal would be reported in the chain of command, from the enumerator through a Crew Leader, a Field Supervisor, and a District Office Manager, to the Regional Technician, Mr. Gray. At least two officials would attempt to obtain the missing answers from the violator. The system would reveal the names of offenders, and visits by census officials would lay the factual foundation for proving specific criminal intent.
[5] This information-gathering system should have apprised the Regional Technician of the names of all who refused to complete the questionnaire. Yet Mr. Gray recollected only four total refusals, while the evidence establishes a minimum of ten. That fact alone strongly suggests a questionable emphasis upon the census resisters. When one also considers that background reports were compiled only on persons who had publicly attacked the census, the inference of discriminatory selection becomes almost compelling. An enforcement procedure that focuses upon the vocal offender is inherently suspect, since it is vulnerable to the charge that those chosen for prosecution are being punished for their expression of ideas, a constitutionally protected right.
[6]

 HYPERLINK "http://campus.westlaw.com/result/documenttext.aspx?blinkviewer=true&spa=northeast-2000&rs=WLW6.06&service=Find&serialnum=1972110477&n=1&fn=_top&sv=Split&findtype=Y&rlt=CLID_FQRLT22120107&db=350&vr=2.0&rp=%2fSearch%2fdefault.wl&mt=CampusLegal" \l "HN;B7" [7] The government offered no explanation for its selection of defendants, other than prosecutorial discretion. That answer simply will not suffice in the circumstances of this case. Since Steele had presented evidence which created a strong inference of discriminatory prosecution, the government was required to explain it away, if possible, by showing the selection process actually rested upon some valid ground. Mere random selection would suffice, since the government is not obligated to prosecute all offenders, but no effort was made to justify these prosecutions as the result of random selection and Steele's evidence was inconsistent with such a theory. Since no valid basis for the selection of defendants was ever presented, the only plausible explanation on this record is the one urged by Steele. We conclude that Steele demonstrated a purposeful discrimination by census authorities against those who had publicly expressed their opinions about the census.
The conviction is reversed.


United States District Court,

D. Hawai'i.

UNITED STATES of America, Plaintiff,
v.
William DANKS, Defendant.
Crim. No. 12797.
April 3, 1973.


Defendant was convicted of refusing to answer questions for the census. On motion to, inter alia, vacate judgment and conviction, the District Court, Samuel P. King, J., held that selective prosecution of defendant for refusing to answer questions for the census resulted in a constitutionally impermissible discrimination as to defendant, as well as to others who had publicly expressed their opinions about the census.
Motion granted, judgment expunged.

SAMUEL P. KING, District Judge.
Defendant William Danks was convicted, under 13 U.S.C. § 221(a), of refusing to answer questions for the 1970 United States Census. He was sentenced to a fine of $50, and now seeks, by way of a motion to vacate sentence and a "petition to reopen a case", to have this court set aside his conviction. His motions are founded upon the decision in United States v. Steele, 461 F.2d 1148 (9th Cir. 1972).
Danks was one of four individuals in the State of Hawaii prosecuted for census violations. In Steele, the conviction of one was reversed on the ground that the defendants were selected for prosecution because they had publicly expressed their opposition to the census, and were therefore being punished for the exercise of First Amendment rights.
[part of text deleted]
The circumstances here are identical with those in Steele. Danks was mentioned by name as one of the four who had been selectively prosecuted for their outspoken opposition to the census. The court determined that there were others who had refused to complete the census forms, but who had not made their opposition to the census publicly known. None of these were recommended for prosecution. The court concluded that there had been "a purposeful discrimination by census authorities against those who had publicly expressed their opinions about the census."


Since Danks was one of the four to whom the court referred, we must regard the fact of a constitutionally impermissible discrimination established as to him. Since discrimination of this sort is of "the most fundamental character, ... such as rendered the proceeding itself irregular and invalid," United States v. Morgan, supra, 346 U.S. 509, n. 15, 74 S.Ct. 251 defendant's motion to vacate the judgment of conviction is granted. Orders that the judgment be expunged, and that defendant's fine of $50 be refunded, will be entered upon submission.
D.C.Hawaii, 1973.
United States v. Danks






321 F.Supp. 388

United States District Court, D. Delaware.

UNITED STATES of America, Plaintiff,

v.

Thomas L. LITTLE, Defendant.

Crim. A. No. 2079.

Jan. 25, 1971.


OPINION

LATCHUM, District Judge.
The defendant, Thomas L. Little, stands charged in an information [FN1] filed in this Court with refusal to answer specified questions set forth on a schedule submitted to him relating to the 1970 Decennial Census. The information reads:

FN1. The present information was filed on October 27, 1970. An earlier information against the defendant was dismissed by the Court. United States v. Little, 317 F.Supp. 1308 (D.Del.1970).



'On or about May 19, 1970, at Wilmington, Delaware, in the Judicial District of Delaware, Thomas L. Little, being over eighteen years of age, in response to a request of an authorized employee of the Bureau of Census, Department of Commerce, refused and wilfully neglected to answer to the best of his knowledge questions 8 through 12, inclusive, question A, questions H1 through H23, inclusive, and questions 13 through 41, inclusive on U.S. Department of Commerce Bureau of Census Form D-2, submitted to him in connection with the 1970 Decennial Census as authorized by subchapters I, II, IV and V, Title 13, United States Code, such questions being applicable to himself and his family, all in violation of Title 13, United States Code, Section 221(a).'
The defendant has moved to dismiss the information for a number of reasons.
First, the defendant contends that the information is defective because it fails to adequately inform him of the nature of the charge as required by Rule 7(c), F.R.Crim.P., and the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. [FN2] This is so, defendant claims, because the questions which the allegedly refused to answer are not sufficiently specified in the information nor are there any allegations supporting the pertinence of those questions. This contention is without merit.

FN2. Rule 7(c), F.R.Crim.P., requires an information to 'be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged.' The Sixth Amendment, in part, reads: 'In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right * * * to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation * * *.'

Title 13 U.S.C. § 141(a) (Subchapter II of Chapter 5) provides that the Secretary *390 of Commerce 'shall, in the year 1960 and every ten years thereafter, take a census of population, unemployment, and housing (including utilities and equipment) as of the first day of April, which shall be known as the census date.' Title 13 U.S.C. § 5 directs the Secretary to 'prepare schedules' and to 'determine the inquiries, and the number, form, and subdivision thereof' for the census.
13 U.S.C. § 221(a) provides:
'(a) Whoever, being over eighteen years of age, refuses or willfully neglects, when requested by the Secretary, or by any other authorized officer or employee of the Department of Commerce or bureau or agency thereof acting under the instructions of the Secretary or authorized officer, to answer, to the best of his knowledge, any of the questions on any schedule submitted to him in connection with any census or survey provided for by subchapters I, Ii, and IV of chapter 5 of this title, applying to himself or to the family to which he belongs or is related, or to the farm or farms of which he or his family is the occupant, shall be fined not more than $100 or imprisoned not more than sixty days, or both.'
[1]

 HYPERLINK "http://campus.westlaw.com/result/documenttext.aspx?findtype=Y&sv=Split&serialnum=1971104230&vr=2.0&rs=WLW6.06&n=1&blinkviewer=true&fn=_top&rp=%2fSearch%2fdefault.wl&spa=northeast-2000&rlt=CLID_FQRLT502520107&mt=CampusLegal&service=Find" \l "HN;B2" [2] Whether an information is sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Sixth Amendment and Rule 7(c), F.R.Crim.P., is measured by whether it contains the elements of the offense intended to be charged, whether it sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet at trial, and in the event subsequent proceedings are brought against him for a similar offense whether the record will show with accuracy to what extent he may plead a former acquittal or conviction. United States v. Krepper, 159 F.2d 958, 968 (C.A. 3, 1946), cert. den. 330 U.S. 824, 67 S.Ct. 865, 91 L.Ed. 1275 (1947). The present information meets all of those tests. It clearly specifies by number each question on the schedule which defendant allegedly refused or willfully neglected to answer upon request of an authorized employee of the Bureau of Census. It also designated the schedule submitted to him in connection with the 1970 Decennial Census which was applicable to him and his family. Furthermore, upon defendant's motion, the government filed a bill of particulars which again identified the questions involved. The defendant was also furnished by the government with an official copy of the schedule, Form D-2, referred to in the information which lists verbatim the questions submitted to him.
I conclude that the information sufficiently informs the defendant of the offense with which he is charged. United States v. Rickenbacker, 197 F.Supp. 924 (S.D.N.Y.1961), aff'd 309 F.2d 462 (C.A. 2, 1962), cert. den. 371 U.S. 962, 83 S.Ct. 542, 9 L.Ed.2d 509 (1963).
Defendant's reliance upon Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 82 S.Ct. 1038, 8 L.Ed.2d 240 (1962) is misplaced. In that case, the defendants were indicted under 2 U.S.C. § 192 for refusing to answer unidentified questions posed by a Congressional subcommittee. Title 2 U.S.C. § 192 provided that every person, who having been subpoenaed to testify 'upon any matter under inquiry' before any Committee of Congress 'willfully makes default, or who, having appeared, refuses to answer any question pertinent to the question under inquiry' shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. The Russell indictments neither designated the specific questions which were asked nor identified the subject under inquiry by the Committee as required by 2 U.S.C. § 192. The Supreme Court properly held the indictments to be defective for failing to plead essential elements of the offense and thus failing to apprise the defendants with reasonable certainty of the nature of the accusations against them. The present information avoids both pitfalls of the Russell indictments. *391 It specifically identifies the exact questions which defendant allegedly refused to answer and informs the defendant that the subject under inquiry related to the 1970 Decennial Census.
[3]

 HYPERLINK "http://campus.westlaw.com/result/documenttext.aspx?findtype=Y&sv=Split&serialnum=1971104230&vr=2.0&rs=WLW6.06&n=1&blinkviewer=true&fn=_top&rp=%2fSearch%2fdefault.wl&spa=northeast-2000&rlt=CLID_FQRLT502520107&mt=CampusLegal&service=Find" \l "HN;B4" [4] Second, the defendant contends that 13 U.S.C. § 221(a) is unconstitutionally vague and indefinite. This claim is apparently predicated on the need to refer to other sections of Title 13 in order to determine the census or survey required to be undertaken by the Secretary of Commerce. Section 221(a) clearly makes it an offense for a person over eighteen to refuse or willfully neglect, when requested by an authorized officer of the Census Bureau, to answer to the best of his knowledge and belief, questions asked on any schedule submitted to him in connection with any census or survey required to be undertaken by subchapters I, II, IV and V of Chapter 5, Title 13. Because it is necessary to refer to other subchapters in order to determine the exact nature of the offense charged does not make the penal statute unconstitutionally vague. In drafting criminal statutes it is the better practice to place a general penalty provision at the end or near the end of an act and provide that any violation of the provisions is punishable according to the terms of the penalty section. This arrangement 'permits a more orderly development of the legislative regulation and creates a clearer picture of the liabilities which the act specifies.' 2 Sutherland, Statutory Construction (3rd Ed.1943), § 4826. The Court concludes that § 221(a) gives 'a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is forbidden by the statute', which is all that is required of a penal statute. United States v. Harriss, 347 U.S. 612, 617, 74 S.Ct. 808, 812, 98 L.Ed. 989 (1954).
[5] Third, the defendant argues that the delegation of power by Congress to the Secretary of Commerce to 'take a census of population, unemployment, and housing (including utilities and equipment)' [FN3] and to 'prepare schedules' and to 'determine the inquiries, and the number, form, and subdivisions thereof, for the statistics, surveys, and censuses" [FN4] to be undertaken is unconstitutional because the delegation lacks an intelligible standard for administrative action. This contention is wholly without merit.

FN3. 13 U.S.C. § 141(a).

FN4. 13 U.S.C. § 5.



In Bowles v. Willingham, 321 U.S. 503, 515, 64 S.Ct. 641, 647, 88 L.Ed. 892 (1944), the Supreme Court, speaking of the power of Congress to delegate legislative powers, said, 'Congress does not abdicate its functions when it describes what job must be done, who must do it, and what is the scope of his authority.' In the census statutes, Congress has met the test of Bowles and has provided an intelligible standard for the delegation.
[6]

 HYPERLINK "http://campus.westlaw.com/result/documenttext.aspx?findtype=Y&sv=Split&serialnum=1971104230&vr=2.0&rs=WLW6.06&n=1&blinkviewer=true&fn=_top&rp=%2fSearch%2fdefault.wl&spa=northeast-2000&rlt=CLID_FQRLT502520107&mt=CampusLegal&service=Find" \l "HN;B7" [7] Article 1, Section 2, Clause 3 of the United States Constitution states, 'The actual Enumeration shall be made (every ten years) in such Manner as (the Congress) shall by Law direct.' Congress has in 13 U.S.C. §§ 5 and 141(a) described the job to be done by the Secretary of Commerce and delineated the scope of his authority, viz. to 'take a census of population, unemployment, and housing (including utilities and equipment).' The fact that there is a zone for the exercise of discretion by the Secretary in framing the questions which will elicit the necessary statistical information within the scope of the census to be undertaken does not render the delegation invalid. Yakus v. United States, 321 U.S. 414, 424-425, 64 S.Ct. 660, 88 L.Ed. 834 (1944). Further, in the absence of a clear showing (which has not been made in this case) that the Secretary's exercise of discretion was irrational, arbitrary or capricious, his actions will not be disturbed. *392 Quon v. Stans, 309 F.Supp. 604, 607 (N.D.Cal.1970); West End Neighborhood Corp. v. Stans, 312 F.Supp. 1066, 1068-1069 (D.D.C.1970); United States ex rel. City of Atlanta, ga., v. Steuart, 60 App.D.C. 83, 47 F.2d 979, 982 (C.A.D.C.1931).
[8] Finally, the defendant contends that the answers sought by the questions propounded in the census questionnaire amounted to an unconstitutional invasion of defendant's right of privacy. He maintains that while the power of inquiry is an essential and appropriate auxiliary to the legislative function, it must be exerted with due regard for the rights of citizens, and that a citizen may refuse to answer when the bounds of the power are exceeded.
'The authority to gather reliable statistical data reasonably related to governmental purposes and functions is a necessity if modern government it to legislate intelligently and effectively.' United States v. Rickenbacker, 309 F.2d 462, 463 (C.A. 2, 1962), cert. den. 371 U.S. 962, 83 S.Ct. 542, 9 L.Ed.2d 509 (1963). The questions, which defendant allegedly refused to answer, all relate and bear upon important federal concerns, such as population, housing, labor and health. The information sought in these vital social welfare areas, in which the government is so heavily committed, will afford a sound statistical basis for taking intelligent governmental action. United States v. Moriarity, 106 F. 886, 891-892 (C.C.S.D.N.Y.1901). The fact that many personal questions may be asked in order to provide statistical reports on housing, labor, health and welfare matters does not make these questions an unconstitutional invasion of a person's right to privacy. The Supreme Court in Wyman v. James, 400 U.S. 309, 321, 91 S.Ct. 381, 388, 27 L.Ed.2d 408 (1971) recently rejected the notion that a beneficiary of the program for Aid to Families with Dependent Children could refuse a house visit by a caseworker because the beneficiary might be asked 'questions concerning personal relationships, beliefs and behavior * * * which are unnecessary for a determination of continuing eligibility.' The Court held that such home visits were reasonable for the purpose intended and equated any possible questions that might be asked by the caseworker as no more onerous than 'the census taker's questions.' For this proposition, the Court cited with approval the holding of the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit in United States v. Rickenbacker, supra.
Moreover, the information obtained by the census questionnaire is strictly confidential. 13 U.S.C. § 9. It may not be used other than for statistical reporting and may never be disclosed in any manner so as to identify any individual who has answered the questions. Its primary purpose is to provide statistical information on which the legislative and executive departments may wisely and effectively act in those governmental areas to which this information pertains. The Court therefore concludes that the defendant's privacy is not unreasonably invaded by requiring answers to the questions asked in the census schedule submitted to him.
Accordingly, defendant's motion to dismiss the information will be denied.
D.C.Del. 1971.
U. S. v. Little,
321 F.Supp. 388


United States District Court S.D. New York.

UNITED STATES of America,

v.

William RICKENBACKER, Defendant.

Sept. 1, 1961.


LEVET, District Judge.
The defendant moves to dismiss the indictment on the ground that the indictment as particularized by the bill of particulars does not state facts sufficient to constitute an offense against the United States within the meaning of Section 221, Title 13 of the United States Code.
The indictment is as follows:
'The Grand Jury charges:
'On or about the 19th day of May, 1960, in the Southern District of New York, William Rickenbacker, the defendant, being a person over the age of eighteen years, when requested by an authorized employee of the Department of Commerce and a bureau thereof, to wit, the Bureau of the Census, acting under the instructions of the Secretary of Commerce and an authorized officer, unlawfully, wilfully and knowingly did refuse to answer, to the best of his knowledge, the questions on a schedule submitted to him in connection with the census and survey provided for by Subchapter II, Chapter 5, of Title 13, United States Code, to wit, the schedule entitled, 'Household Questionnaire For The 1960 Census of Population And Housing,' which questions on said schedule applied to himself and to the family to which he belonged and was related. (Title 13, United States Code, Section 221.)'
Section 141 of Title 13 United States Code (Subchapter II-- Population, Housing, Agriculture, Irrigation, Drainage, and Unemployment) is as follows:
'§ 141. Population, unemployment, and housing
'(a) The Secretary shall, in the year 1960 and every ten years thereafter, take a census of population, unemployment, and housing (including utilities and equipment) as of the first day of April, which shall be known as the census date.
'(b) The tabulation of total population by States as required for the apportionment of Representatives shall be completed within eight months of the census date and reported by the Secretary to the President of the United States.'
Section 221 of Title 13 United States Code, is as follows:
'§ 221. Refusal or neglect to answer questions; false answers
'(a) Whoever, being over eighteen years of age, refuses or willfully neglects, when requested by the Secretary, or by any other authorized officer or employee of the Department of Commerce or bureau or agency thereof acting under the instructions of the Secretary or authorized officer, to answer, to the best of his knowledge, any of the questions on any schedule submitted to him in connection with any census or survey provided for by subchapters I, II, IV, and V of chapter 5 of this title, applying to himself or to the family to which he belongs or is related, or to the farm or farms of which he or his family is the occupant, shall be fined not more than $100 or imprisoned not more than sixty days, or both.'
By the bill of particulars, to which defendant's motion refers, it appears that the government claims defendant refused to fill out a certain questionnaire entitled, 'Household Questionnaire For *926 The 1960 Census of Population And Housing' which was delivered to him by a census enumerator. This appears definitely to be a census or survey provided for by Subchapter II of Chapter 5 of Title 13 United States Code. The defendant on this motion raises no question of constitutionality.
The questionnaire relates, as stated thereon, to the house occupied by the person to whom the questionnaire is delivered since it states thereon, 'The term 'house' or 'apartment' covers your house or part of the house you occupy, or the apartment, flat, or rooms in which you live.' Thus the questionnaire presumably applies to the defendant.
The questionnaire appears to be the means devised by the Bureau of the Census to elicit the information inquired by Section 141(a) and thus the sanctions of Section 221 apply.
Consequently, the motion to dismiss the indictment must be denied.
So ordered.
D.C.N.Y. 1961.
U. S. v. Rickenbacker,
197 F.Supp. 924







309 F.2d 462

United States Court of Appeals

Second Circuit.

UNITED STATES of America, Appellee,

v.

William F. RICKENBACKER, Appellant.

No. 105, Docket 27618.

Argued Oct. 17, 1962.

Decided Oct. 29, 1962.

Certiorari Denied Jan. 14, 1963.



MARSHALL, Circuit Judge.
William F. Rickenbacker was convicted in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, after a one-day trial before Judge Levet sitting without a jury, for refusing to answer a schedule entitled 'Household Questionnaire for the 1960 Census of Population and Housing,' in violation of 13 U.S.C.A. § 221(a). Judge Levet imposed a suspended sentence of 60 days' imprisonment, fined the defendant $100, and placed him on probation for one day. Rickenbacker has appealed the conviction on several grounds. We find all of these grounds without merit and affirm.
Early in 1960, in connection with the administration of the decennial census, the Government sent a supplementary household questionnaire to every fourth household in the United States, including Rickenbacker's household in Briarcliff Manor, New York. Rickenbacker subsequently told a census enumerator that he did not intend to answer the questionnaire. He later told the Grand Jury that indicted him that he based his refusal to answer upon a belief that the questionnaire represented 'an unnecessary invasion of my privacy' and upon a desire 'to maintain liberties in this country as a constitutional philosophical question.' He also stated that he did not rest his refusal upon any fear of self-incrimination. The indictment, trial, and conviction followed.
Appellant makes several arguments on appeal. He contends that the penal sanctions for refusal to answer census questions embodied in 13 U.S.C.A. § 221(a) may be applied only to a person who refuses to answer questions 'applying to himself or to the family to which he belongs or is related,' construed in a narrow, strict sense, and that Congress did not intend the statute to be applied to a person who refuses to answer questions relating to the contents, construction, and conveniences of the house or household in which he lives. This question of statutory construction we do not reach, because it is clear that many of the questions on the household questionnaire which appellant refused to answer were immediately related to himself or to his family, even under the strict construction of the statute which he here advocates.
[1] Appellant further argues that 13 U.S.C.A. § 221 'in its present form does not require written answers.' However, during the time that the census was being taken appellant did not answer the questionnaire either orally or in writing. We also find no merit in appellant's claim that the household questionnaire violated his right under the Fourth Amendment to be free from illegal searches and seizures. The authority to gather reliable statistical data reasonably related to governmental purposes and functions is a necessity if modern government is to legislate intelligently and effectively. United States v. Moriarity, 106 F. 886, 891-892 (C.C.S.D.N.Y.1901). Cf. United States v. Sharrow, 309 F.2d 77 (2 Cir. 1962). The questions contained in the household questionnaire related to important federal concerns, such as housing, labor, and health, and were not unduly broad or sweeping in their scope. The fact that some public opinion research experts might regard the size of the household questionnaire 'sample' as larger than necessary to obtain an accurate result does not support a conclusion that the census was arbitrary or in violation of *464 the Fourth Amendment. See 13 U.S.C. § 195.
[2] Finally, appellant contends that his conviction is invalid under the rule of Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, 6 S.Ct. 1064, 30 L.Ed. 220, because the motivation of the Government's decision to prosecute him was discriminatory. He bases this contention on the claim that although there is indication that other persons have also refused to fill out the household form, he is the only one against whom the Government has initiated a criminal prosecution. This claim falls well short of proving the Yick Wo requirement that a statute has been 'applied and administered by public authority with an evil eye and unequal hand,' 118 U.S. at 373-374, 6 S.Ct. at 1073. 'The fact that not all criminals are prosecuted is no valid defense to the one prosecuted.' United States v. Manno, 118 F.Supp. 511, 515 (N.D.Ill.1954); Grell v. United States, 112 F.2d 861, 875 (8 Cir. 1940).
Appellant's other claims are without merit.
Affirmed.
C.A.N.Y. 1962
U.S. v. Rickenbacker
309 F.2d 462
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RICKS, District Judge.
The defendant is the treasurer of the Mitchell & Rowland. Lumber Company, a corporation organized under the laws of Ohio, and on the 20th day of April, 1893, engaged in 'a productive industry,' to wit, the manufacture of lumber and lath, in this district and division, and in the first supervisor's district of Ohio. He is indicted under an act of congress approved July 6, 1892, which is 'An act amendatory of an act entitled 'An act to provide for the taking of the eleventh census,'' for refusing and failing to make answers to certain questions propounded to him by David A. Alexander, a special agent of the census office, who was duly employed, appointed, commissioned, and sworn to obtain information in the first supervisor's district of Ohio from corporations engaged in any productive industry, which information was called for and specified in a special schedule, No. 5, approved by the secretary of the interior, in accordance with the provisions of the act of congress named.
The questions which the defendant so refused to answer are set forth in the indictment as follows: A question as to the name of the corporation of which said defendant was then and there the treasurer; a question as to when the establishment of which defendant was treasurer commenced operations; a question as to the kind of goods manufactured by said corporation; a question as to the capital invested in logging, in mill plant, and in live capital; a question as to labor and wages; a question as to material used; a question as to months in operation; a question as to the number of hours in the ordinary day of labor; a question as to the power used in manufacture; a question as to the transportation of logs, how transported to mill, quantity transported during the year, cost of transportation, miles of logging railway used; a question as to number of acres of timbered land, or standing timber, owned by said corporation; a question as to what sawing machinery the said corporation possessed; a question as to whether colored persons had capital invested in the establishment of which the defendant was treasurer. These are the material averments of the indictment, sufficiently set forth for the purpose of considering the questions now involved.
The first defense interposed is that the acts of congress upon which the indictment is predicated do not make it an offense for the president, or other officers named, of a corporation or firm engaged in any productive industry, to refuse to answer the inquiries contained in the schedules prepared by the census bureau, and propounded by the representatives of the census superintendent. *995 Congress unquestionably intended to impose upon such officers the duty to answer such questions, and to prescribe a penalty for a refusal so to do. Do the acts impose such duty? The act of March 3, 1879, (1 Supp. Rev. St. p. 471,) under which the census for 1880 was taken, in section 14, required that the heads of families, or, in their absence, any other member or agent, should, if thereto requested by the census enumerator, etc., 'render a true account of every person belonging to such family, in the various particulars required by law,' and provided a punishment for a refusal or failure to do so. The second paragraph of the same section provided 'that every president, treasurer * * * or managing director of every corporation from which answers to any of the schedules provided for by this act are herein required, who shall, if thereto requested, * * * neglect or refuse to give true and complete answers to any inquiries authorized by this act * * * shall forfeit and pay,' etc. This was the first provision of law that seemed to contemplate compulsory answers from corporations to questions propounded by enumerators or other officers of the census bureau. The first paragraph above quoted not only required the census enumerators to obtain from heads of families, or from their agents or representatives, the information required by law, but imposed a duty upon such persons to give the information required, with a penalty for failing or refusing so to do; but the blank forms and schedules furnished by the secretary of the interior to enumerators for ascertaining statistics and facts concerning products of industry provided only for such information as the persons interested voluntarily imparted. The second paragraph, as already quoted, provided both a penalty and punishment for officers of corporations 'from which answers to any of the schedules provided for by this act are herein required,' who shall, if thereto requested by the supervisor, enumerator, etc., refuse or fail to answer any inquiries authorized, etc. Section 17 of the same act extended the scope of the schedules used in the tenth census, and provided that the superintendent of the census shall require and obtain from every railroad, express, telegraph, life insurance, and fire and marine insurance company the facts specifically set forth in the law as to the business of each of said kind of public or quasi public corporations. This was the first provision of any legislative act authorizing a census to be taken, which contained a clause requiring the superintendent of census to obtain information of the character indicated from such corporations. In a note by the editor and compiler of the supplement (volume 1) to the Revised Statutes, referring to this act, it is said: 
'This act seems to supersede all the provisions of the Revised Statutes on the subject, retaining, by section 17, the schedules set forth in Rev. St. § 2206.'
The only provision of law in force prior to the act of March 3, 1879, above referred to, relating to the compulsory answers to the questions of census enumerators, was section 2191 of Revised Statutes, which provided: 
*996 'Every person more than twenty-one years of age belonging to any family residing in any subdivision and in case of the absence of the head and other members of any such family, then any agent of such family shall upon the request of the marshal or his assistant, render a true account to the best of his knowledge of every person belonging to such family, in the various particulars required herein, and the tables hereto subjoined; and for any refusal whatever to answer either of the inquiries authorized by law, such persons shall be liable to a penalty of thirty dollars, to be sued for and recovered in an action by the assistant marshal for the use of the United States.'
This provision of the statutes was substantially re-enacted in the first paragraph of section 14 of the act of March 3, 1879, and the second provision, as before quoted, was no doubt intended to provide a punishment for officers of corporations who refuse to comply with the law. The next legislation, in order of time, was the act of March 1, 1889, (25 Stat. 760.) In that act the second paragraph of section 14, last above referred to, is amended by the second paragraph of section 15, and extended as to the officers to be included, and repealing the penalty part of the punishment, and extending the latter to fine or imprisonment. This paragraph of section 15 was again amended by the act of July 6, 1892, (27 Stat. 86,) which reads as follows: 
'An act amendatory of an act entitled 'An act to provide for the taking of the eleventh census.' 'Be it enacted by the senate and house of representatives of the United States of America in congress assembled, that sections 15 and 17 of the act entitled 'An act to provide for taking the eleventh and subsequent censuses,' approved March 1, 1889, be and the same are hereby amended so that the superintendent of census shall be required to obtain from every incorporated and unincorporated company, firm, association, or person engaged in any productive industry, the information called for and specified in general and special schedules heretofore approved, or to be hereafter approved by the secretary of the interior. And every president, treasurer, secretary, agent, director or other officer of every corporation engaged in such productive industry, and every person, firm, manager, or agent of unincorporated companies, and members of firms, associations or individuals likewise engaged in such productive industry from which or from whom answers to any of the inquiries contained in the said schedules are herein required, who shall if thereto requested by the superintendent of census, supervisor, enumerator, or special agent, or each or any of them, wilfully neglect or refuse to give true and complete answers to any inquiry or inquiries contained in the said schedules, or shall wilfully give false information in respect thereto, shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and on conviction thereof shall be fined in a sum not exceeding ten thousand dollars, to which may be added inprisonment for a period not exceeding one year, and all acts or parts of acts in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.'
These several acts clearly indicate that it was the intent of congress to impose a duty upon the officers of corporations engaged in any productive industry to answer such questions as the schedules contain, or such as might be propounded by the enumerators, special agents, or other persons duly authorized by the superintendent of census to gather the information desired. But a careful examination of all the acts published impels me to the conclusion that no such duty was imposed. The act of July 6, 1892, was evidently passed upon the assumption that the answers to inquiries 'herein required' were to be compulsory because of some duty imposed by *997 some other section. The language in all the acts cited clearly implies that, in some other sections of the act, provisions were contained which required the corporations and firms named to answer the questions contained in the schedule. The offense contemplated by the act is refusing to answer questions propounded in the printed schedules, which it was assumed the law required to be answered, and which the officer requested to be answered; but, as before stated, no such duty was imposed by either of the acts. A duty of that character is imposed by a distinct provision of law upon the head of a family, or the other persons required to make answer in his absence, and the requirement as to them is clearly defined to be to 'render a true account, to the best of his or her knowledge, of every person belonging to such family, in the various particulars required by law.'
By section 17 of the act of March 3, 1879, as amended by the act of March 1, 1889, the duty is imposed upon the superintendent of census to 'require and obtain' from every railroad, telegraph, express and insurance company described in that act, the information therein designated. Under the act upon which this indictment is based, the superintendent of the census is 'required to obtain * * * the information called for and specified in the schedules, * * * to be approved by the secretary of the interior.' Here the superintendent is required to obtain information 'from firms engaged in productive industries.' In the case of the railroad, telegraph, and other corporations covered by the act of 1879, the superintendent is directed to 'require from every railroad corporation the following facts.' In the one case, the superintendent is required to obtain information; in the other, the railroad companies are required to give information. In the one case, a duty is imposed upon the superintendent; in the other, it is imposed upon the corporation. But it may be said that congress manifestly intended to impose such a duty, and that it is clearly implied from the law. But this is a criminal proceeding, and, to confer jurisdiction upon the federal courts in such cases, an offense must be clearly defined and created by statute. We have no jurisdiction over any other offenses. In the case of U. S. v. Hudson, 7 Cranch, 32, Mr. Justice Johnson, speaking for the supreme court, said: 'The legislative authority of the Union must first make an act a crime, affix a punishment to it, and declare the court that shall have jurisdiction of the offense.' In U. S. v. Lancaster, 2 McLean, 431, the court declared: 'Nothing can be punished, under the laws of the United States, which is not made criminal by statute.' This limits the jurisdiction of the federal courts to statutory offenses. We cannot extend the law to cover a failure to do an act required to be done only by implication of law. To make the failure or refusal to perform a duty a criminal offense cognizable in this court, the act of congress must clearly define that duty and declare the punishment. That has not been done.
The next objection to the indictment is that 'the act of congress under which said pretended indictment is founded is unconstitutional and void, for the reason that congress had no constitutional *998 authority to pass said act.' The authority for such legislation is based on article 1, § 2, par. 3, of the constitution, which provides: 
'Representatives and direct taxes shall be apportioned among the several states which may be included in the Union according to their respective numbers. * * * The actual enumeration shall be made within three years after the first meeting of congress and within every subsequent term of ten years, in such manner as they shall by law direct.'
Article 1, § 9, par. 4, provides: 
'No capitation or other direct tax shall be laid unless in proportion to the census of enumeration hereinbefore directed to be taken.'
It is contended that the object of the enumeration is to ascertain the numbers so as to establish a basis for representative apportionment and for direct taxes. Direct taxes are either capitation taxes or land taxes, and, when levied by congress, it fixes so much as lies among the different states according to their numbers, not according to their property or wealth; so representation is based not upon property or wealth, but upon numbers. Therefore, to accomplish the object in view, it is not necessary to inquire as to property, or wealth, or business. Chief Justice Marshall in Loughborough v. Blake, 5 Wheat. 317, declared: 
'The direct and declared object of the census is to furnish a standard by which representatives and direct taxes may be apportioned among the several states which may be included in this Union.'
It is further contended that congress has only such legislative powers as are expressly conferred, and it cannot be claimed that a power to take an enumeration for the purposes above declared confers, by implication, a power to ascertain the value of property or the methods of using it.
It is further earnestly contended that the legislation hereinbefore considered, seeking a compulsory answer to inquiries about business and property, is violative of certain provisions of the bill of rights and the constitution. Article 4 of the bill of rights provides: 
'The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue but upon probable cause,' etc.
It is urged that the demand of a special agent of the census bureau, under the act of congress, from the defendant, of his books and papers, that he might search them for information, would be a violation of this provision of the bill of rights, and that there would be no difference between such a demand and the requirement to compel him to furnish the same information at his own expense, upon penalty of fine or imprisonment for failure so to do. In either case, the books and papers of the citizen are searched and seized. Article 5 of the bill of rights provides: 
'Nor shall any person be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law, nor shall private property be taken without just compensation.'
These reasons are urged with great force against the validity of this legislation.
*999 In view of the conclusion reached under the first objection to this indictment, I might possibly pass this graver objection without further consideration of the claims of counsel, as above stated. But as future legislation will be necessary to remedy the defect found in existing statutes, should this opinion be affirmed by the supreme court, it may not be amiss to suggest that there may be a limit to the power of congress to compel a citizen to disclose information concerning his business undertakings, and the manner in which they are carried on. This limit must relate, not only to the kind of information he may properly refuse to disclose, because it may be equivalent to the appropriation of private property for public use without just compensation, but also to the extent of the information required, as well as to the time within which it shall be given. Certain kinds of information valuable to the public, and useful to the legislative branches of the government as the basis for proper laws, have heretofore been voluntarily given, and may properly be required from the citizen, when it is not of property value, or when the collection, compilation, and preparation thereof does not impose great expense and labor for which compensation is not provided. It is not infrequent, however, that answers to questions propounded in some schedules, if fully and properly prepared, involve the collection and compilation of facts that require the labor of a large force of clerks for days and weeks, entailing great expense and embarrassment to the ordinary business of the citizen. Is it within the power of congress to make such answers compulsory, and require the citizen to neglect his usual business, with loss, and to prepare this information at a great personal expense, without proper compensation? Or if a citizen, by his long experience in a special line of business, and by his superior organizing and administrative ability, has so systematized it that he can carry it on at a much less expense and with greater facility than others, is it right to compel him to disclose the information so acquired, and thereby open to his rivals in trade the methods by which he has been able to outstrip them in the sharp competition for business? Is not the system so established, and the knowledge so acquired, as much a property right to him as the land and shop in which he conducts his business? and can he be compelled to part with the former without due compensation more justly than with the latter? The zeal with which such information is sometimes solicited to maintain favorite theories of public officials, or to afford the basis for discussing economical questions, often leads to excesses, and imposes upon the citizen duties for which no just compensation is afforded, either in money, or in his proportion of the reward of the good results to follow to the public.
As before stated, when such information is required as the basis for proper legislation or the just enforcement of the public laws, the power to compel its disclosure may exist, and, if unusual expense attends its preparation, proper remuneration to the citizen can be made; but the suggestion that information having a property value may be demanded, which the citizen may not be obliged to impart without due compensation, so earnestly pressed by the *1000 learned counsel in this case, still remains undisposed of, and a proper subject for consideration by congress in the future legislation that may be needed to enforce such demands by the census bureau. Of course, these suggestions are not intended to apply to the power of congress to compel answers to questions, propounded to the officers of railroads, telegraph, and insurance companies, corporations of a public character, over the business methods of which the legislative power may be asserted. As to such corporations, the public good requires that wholesome and strict supervision should be exercised, and all the information needed as the basis for such regulation and control should be produced when required. In view of the conclusion reached, it is not necessary to consider other objections urged to the indictment.
The demurrer will be sustained upon the first proposition considered, and the motion to quash is allowed.
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